TRUSTEES OF THE SCHOOL

Mr. Justice William C. Loring (President). Mr. Amory Gardner (Secretary). Mr. GARDINER M. LANE (Treasurer). Mr. ALEXANDER S. COCHRAN. Mr. F. P. Fish. Professor Basil L. Gildersleeve. Professor WILLIAM W. GOODWIN. Mr. JAMES LOEB. Professor WILLIAM M. SLOANE. Mr. F. A. VANDERLIP.

Professor James R. Wheeler. ie

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE SCHOOL AT ATHENS

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE, ex officio.

THE SECRETARY OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE, ex officio.

THE TREASURER OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE, ex officio.

THE PRESIDENT OF THE ARCHAEOLOGICAL INSTITUTE, ex officio.

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGING COMMITTEE OF THE SCHOOL IN Rome, ex officio.

Professor Capps and Professor Fairbanks, until 1912. Professor Smyth and Professor Young, until 1913.

American School of Classical Studies at Athens

THIRTIETH ANNUAL REPORT OF THE MANAG-ING COMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN SCHOOL OF CLASSICAL STUDIES AT ATHENS

To the Council of the Archaeological Institute of America:

Gentlemen,—I have the honor to report on the affairs of the American School of Classical Studies at Athens for the year ending August 31, 1911.¹

On September 8, 1910, the death of Professor Lamberton of the University of Pennsylvania occurred. He had been a member of the Managing Committee since 1889, and during the earlier years of his membership he attended the meetings of the Committee and was instrumental in maintaining the subscription of the University of Pennsylvania. Of late years he gave over these duties to Professor Bates, but without ceasing to feel a sincere interest in the welfare of the School.

Judge Francis C. Lowell, the President of the Board of Trustees, died on March 6, 1911. Shortly before his death, he was actively engaged in the work of raising money for the enlargement of the school building. The letter asking for subscriptions which he had written has since been used by the Treasurer. The death of Judge Lowell is a great loss to the School. He had recently been in Greece, and had become much interested in the work there; he was thus singularly well fitted to bring the Board of Trustees into close touch with the affairs of the School.

The tragic death of Mr. H. F. De Cou at Cyrene has taken from us a former Fellow and Secretary, to whom the School

¹ Owing to the prolonged illness of the Director this report has been considerably delayed. For the same reason portions of the Director's informal report have been incorporated in that of the Chairman of the Managing Committee, and the usual separate report of the Director will not be issued.

owes a debt of gratitude for his thorough scholarship and great learning. His residence in Athens was longer than that of any one who has been connected with the School, except Professor Richardson and the present Director, and in the history of the School his name deserves high honor.

Justice William C. Loring of the Massachusetts Supreme Court has been elected President of the Board of Trustees. Mr. F. A. Vanderlip and Mr. Alexander S. Cochran have also been elected members of the Board.

It is gratifying to be able to record much progress in the plans for the enlargement of the school building. Through the generosity of many givers, whose names appear in the lists of contributors, the necessary funds are now in hand, and arrangements are being made for the purchase of such materials as can best be obtained in this country.

The progress, too, reported by the Committee on Publication is satisfactory. Mr. Seager's report on the excavations at Mochlos has been issued in attractive quarto form, and the volume may now be had by applying to Professor Chase of Harvard. Professor J. M. Paton has been chosen editor of the publication on the Erechtheum, and he is now at work in some of the libraries of northern Europe, seeking to discover hitherto unknown records of the temple. Articles representing the work of members of the School have appeared in the Journal of Archaeology, the Journal of Philology, and in the Bulletin de correspondance hellénique.

On December 29, 1910, the Managing Committee held a Special Meeting in Providence, R.I., to consider the question of electing a Director. Mr. Hill was unanimously chosen to the office for a second term of five years. The office of Secretary has not been filled during the past year: the duties connected with it have been performed by two of the Fellows and by Mr. Storey of the staff of The Museum of Fine Arts in Boston, who was in Athens during the first half of the school year. In May, Mr. Sanborn, Fellow of the Institute, was chosen Secretary for the year 1911–12.

The bequest of \$500 by Mrs. Ruth Emerson Fletcher to the Archaeological Institute for the School is mentioned in the report of the President of the Institute. Mrs. Fletcher, as

Miss Emerson, was a student during the year 1895–96, and this bequest was prompted by the memory of that year's work. The money will be used for the fittings of the special room intended for women students, in the addition to the school building. The bequest comes to us most gratefully as an expression of appreciation on the part of a former student who has left with all who knew her the memory of a singularly gracious personality.

As a Christmas gift to the School, Mr. James B. Hammond of the Hammond Typewriter Company sent to Athens a fully equipped typewriter of the latest pattern. This has been of great service in the Director's office. Another useful gift, from Professor Alice Walton, has been that of a desk.

In Athens the work of the year has gone on well, except for the illness of the Director, which came late in the summer, during the vacation. The work of next year rather than of this will consequently be affected, since the Director must be absent during a part of the winter. Fortunately, with Professor Gulick, Mr. Sanborn, and Mr. Dinsmoor at the School, the work is not likely to suffer during his absence. There has been a larger number of students than usual at the School—eleven in all, of whom all but three were registered for the full session. Nine different institutions are represented in this number. I quote from the Director's informal report on the work of the students:

"The lectures offered by the Secretaries of the Austrian and German Institutes have been open as usual to members of other schools. All of our students heard Professor Dörpfeld's very short series of lectures on Athenian Topography in the early part of the year; six were in regular attendance upon the careful, detailed lectures by Professor Karo on the smaller antiquities (of the earlier periods, especially: from neolithic to archaic) in the National Museum; two members of the School attended Professor von Premerstein's course in Epigraphy; and three listened to Dr. Walter on Marble Reliefs in the National and the Acropolis Museums. The debt of the School to these four gentlemen is thus obviously great. All the new members of the School have taken part in the exercises which I have conducted in the study of Athenian buildings. The

133

course has as heretofore included few lectures, and has been in general a combination of seminar and laboratory exercises — so to say. The work requires a large amount of time both from the students and from me, but results have seemed fully to justify the cost. There has been a marked increase, unless my observation is quite at fault, in the average ability of members to understand ancient buildings and on occasion to follow intelligently the reconstruction of them from scanty or confused remains. Our work this year was almost confined to the Acropolis. I shall endeavor hereafter, while not neglecting the disciplinary side of the work, to make the course a fairly complete study of Athenian Topography. This is clearly necessary now that it is probable we can no longer have the advantage of Professor Dörpfeld's peripatetic lectures.

"Apart from travelling and attending lectures or other exercises of our own and foreign schools, the members of the School have given a large amount of time to their own special studies. As Fellow in Architecture, Mr. Dinsmoor has continued the excellent work that has become the established tradition of that Fellowship. He has made good progress in piecing together and restoring the building inscriptions of the Propylaea and of the Parthenon; he has continued the work on the Propylaea which is to constitute the principal part of his labors for the remainder of the time we can expect him to remain in the School; he has made a new plan of the Parthenon and some of the necessary drawings for my paper on the Earlier Parthenon; he has in process a complete plan of our excavations at Corinth on the scale 1:1500; and will make the drawings still needed for the Papers on Corinth by Dr. Heermance and myself; his studies of the Treasuries at Delphi have yielded interesting new results which are being embodied in a paper shortly to be published in the Bulletin de correspondance hellénique. Dr. Johnson, holder of a special Fellowship granted by the Carnegie Institution, has completed the preparation for publication of the three important inscriptions found by him last year on the Acropolis; has written a paper on the Attic tribe Ptolemais, and on the Archons of the third century B.C., assigning the establishment of the tribe to a date some years earlier than has hitherto been done, and revising the dating of the Archons of

the fifth to eighth decades of the century; and he has made a careful revision of his dissertation on certain features of the syntax of Isaeus and Isocrates in comparison with that of Attic psephismata preceding 300 B.C. The dissertation is being printed in Athens. The Fellow of the Institute, Mr. Sanborn, has performed the regular duties of Librarian; has continued and very nearly completed his careful study of the coins found in the excavations at Corinth; has written a paper on a head of Dionysus discovered there last year; has given me much valuable help in the revision of various papers on Corinth; and is preparing a guide to the excavations. Miss Walker has given the greatest part of her time to the thorough study begun last year of the vases and vase-fragments from Corinth, and has now very nearly concluded the work. In order to gather supplementary data at first hand, she is sifting and observing closely the product from the excavation of successive strata in a small pit sunk in the Agora at Corinth at a point where fillings and accumulations lie undisturbed from the late Greek surface down to hardpan. This work may well supply important evidence both for the history of ceramics and for the dating of the various Greek periods at Corinth. Dr. Pharr, the Fellow of the School, has begun and made good progress with a collection of sources for knowledge of the Attic demes; he found recently at Vari an inscription — a fragment of a fourth century honorary decree - which promises to be of value, though no certain identification of persons has yet been possible. Miss Goldman has taken Votive Reliefs in the Athenian museums for special study; Mr. Blegen similarly takes the later Greek period of the history of Corinth, but has given the subject rather little time thus far because of preparation for the Fellowship examinations; Miss Sheldon has avoided specialization — throwing herself with zeal into all kinds of work within reach. The Associate Members, Professor Walton, Miss Allinson, and Professor Baker, have, when in Athens, followed the work of the School closely: they have not of course announced special topics for investigation.

"We held only one Open Meeting this year, on March 24. At this I spoke upon the Excavations at Corinth in 1910, and Mr. Dinsmoor concerning the Treasuries at Delphi. In spite

of particularly unfavorable weather the meeting was well attended. A second meeting was planned for April 7, but it proved to be inconvenient to hold it. There would have been good material available for even a third meeting had there been opportunity to have so many."

Professor Allinson made his special work a series of lectures on "Attica outside of Athens," with trips to the different localities involved. "We began," he writes, "with some eight hours devoted to Piraeus, and passed on to Phyle, Acharnae, etc., and so on to the eastern coast of Attica. We found time to return on the southwestern coast, and included the Mesogaea and one lecture on Salamis." In addition to this interesting and valuable work, Professor Allinson read several plays. The School is indebted both to him and to Mrs. Allinson for their very great contribution to the success of the year.

The excavations have been at Corinth and in eastern Locris. At Corinth the work was in the region of Pirene, and was undertaken chiefly with the purpose of solving the difficulty in handling the water, which has given great trouble at this point. The situation had become acute, since the water was a menace to the health of the modern village. The Director reports that his measures have proved successful, and that incidentally a good deal more of the interesting construction of the fountain in Roman times has been brought to light.

The Locrian excavations, which are of the nature of trial diggings, were undertaken at the instance of Professor Carl D. Buck, and at his request the University of Chicago gave \$500 for the work. The object was to settle the disputed question of the site of Opus, which might be expected to yield important finds, and especially inscriptions in the Locrian dialect. The investigations were chiefly at Kyparissi, with a little work at Atalante. At the former place, where there is a fine acropolis, a Doric temple (columns with 16 flutings) was uncovered, and some rather poorly preserved Greek and Roman buildings. There was apparently a large town at the base of the hill. No inscriptions were found. At Atalante comparatively little was done. A portion of a town wall was uncovered—dating probably from the fourth century B.C. or perhaps from Hellenistic times—and parts of a Roman building. More work is needed

on both sites before definite conclusions can be reached. At Chiliadou (ancient Korseia), where there are slight remains on a hill, a few graves were found, but no inscriptions. This work was, however, wholly tentative. At Halae (Theologon, near Malesina) Miss Walker and Miss Goldman worked at their own expense for some weeks, with promising results. Several undisturbed graves were opened, and vases and terracottas—many of good quality, from Corinthian times on—were found. Some fairly early inscriptions were discovered; one is long and well preserved, dating probably from the fourth century B.C. Mr. Sanford and Mr. Blegen had charge of the work at Kyparissi and Chiliadou, and Dr. Johnson of that at Atalante, but the Director followed all the excavations closely.

Six former members of the School have been visitors in Athens for longer or shorter periods during the year—Professor Capps (1893-94), Professor Buck (1887-89), Professor Weller (1900-01), Professor Alice Walton (1895-96), Mr. F. H. Taylor (1882-83), and Miss L. C. Spaulding (1902-03). The Director had the pleasure also of receiving President Thomas of Bryn Mawr, Professor J. B. Clark of Columbia, Professor Williams of Mount Holyoke, and Professor Palmer of Vassar. Mr. Van Buren of the School in Rome and several students of his party were welcome visitors, and the Director was able to show hospitality to several travellers who brought letters from friends of the School in this country.

During the year 1911-12, Professor Gulick of Harvard is in residence at the School, and he will be succeeded in 1912-13 by Professor C. P. Bill of Western Reserve University.

For the Managing Committee,

J. R. WHEELER, Chairman.

GIFTS TO THE LIBRARY, 1910-1911

Books

Professor F. G. Allinson, 1; The British Museum (Catalogue of Greek Coins of Phoenicia), 1; The British School at Athens (B.S.A.), 2; The Carnegie Institute, 1; Professor G. H. Chase, 1; Sr. Giuseppe Cultrere, 1; The Museum of Constantinople, 1; Cornell University, 1; The Egyptian Ministry (Archaeological Survey of Nubia), 2; The French Government, Minister of Public Education, Sélinonte, Hulet, and Fougères, 1, Monuments Byzantins de Mistra, Millet, 1, Delos, École Française d'Athènes, 3, Fouilles de Delphes, 12 (received through the courtesy of the French School) 17; Professor C. B. Gulick, 1; Mr. F. W. Hasluck, 1; Professor D. M. Robinson, 1; Mr. K. G. Savva, 1; Miss A. L. Walker, 2; Professor J. W. White, 1.

PAMPHLETS

Berlin Arch. Society, 1; Mr. F. de S. Brouwer, 1; Bryn Mawr College, 2; The Carnegie Institution, 1; Mr. F. Courby, 1; The Egyptian Ministry (Arch. Survey of Nubia), 2; Miss F. A. Gragg, 1; Professor G. N. Hatzidakis, 1; Goteborg High School, 1; Professor George Hempl, 1; Mr. D. P. Petrocochino, 1; Miss A. G. Solota, 3; Mr. G. N. Theotokes, 2; National Museum of Transylvania, 2; Mr. K. D. Triantaphyllopoulos, 1; The University of Upsala, 7; Mr. F. Versakis, 1.

Number of books accessioned, 66; number of pamphlets accessioned, 17.

SCHOOL AT ATHENS

FACULTY AND STUDENTS

1910-1911

Faculty

BERT HODGE HILL, A.M.,
Director of the School.

FRANCIS G. ALLINSON, Ph.D.,

Professor of the Greek Language and Literature.

Secretary of the School.

Students

Miss Susanne Carey Allinson,* A.B. (Bryn Mawr College, 1910).

WILLIAM WILSON BAKER,* A.B. (Harvard University, 1898), A.M. (*ibid.* 1899), Ph.D. (*ibid.* 1901), Instructor in Latin in Harvard University (1901–04), Professor of Greek in Haverford College, 1904-.

Carl William Blegen, A.B. (University of Minnesota, 1907; Yale University, 1908), Soldiers' Memorial Fellow of Yale University (1908-11).

WILLIAM BELL DINSMOOR, S.B. (Harvard University, 1906), Scholar in Harvard University (1903-06), Austin Fellow in Architecture (*ibid*. 1906-07), Fellow in Architecture of the School on the grant of the Carnegie Institution of Washington, 1908-.

Miss Hetty Goldman, A.B. (Bryn Mawr College, 1903), A.M. (Harvard University, 1910), Holder of the Charles Eliot Norton Fellowship of Harvard University (1910–12).

Allan Chester Johnson, A.B. (Dalhousie College, 1904), Ph.D. (Johns Hopkins University, 1909), Fellow of the Institute (1909–10), Fellow on a special grant of the Carnegie Institution (1910–11).

CLYDE PHARR, A.B. (East Texas Normal School, 1905; Yale University, 1906), Ph.D. (Yale University, 1910), Fellow of the School.

Cyrus Ashton Rollins Sanborn, A.B. (Harvard University, 1905), A.M. (*ibid.* 1908), Teacher in the Foster School, Litchfield, Conn. (1905-07), Holder of the Charles Eliot Norton Fellowship of Harvard University (1909-10), Fellow of the Institute.

Miss Maud Miriam Sheldon, A.B. (Cornell University, 1910).

Miss ALICE LESLIE WALKER, A.B. (Vassar College, 1906), A.M. (ibid. 1908), Fellow of the School (1909-10).

Miss Alice Walton,* A.B. (Smith College, 1887), Ph.D. (Cornell University, 1892), Member of the School (1895–96), Instructor in Archaeology in Wellesley College (1896–1902), Associate Professor of Latin and Archaeology (*ibid.* 1902–), Member of the School in Rome (1903–04).

^{*} Associate Member of the School.

FACULTY AND FELLOWS

1911-1912

Faculty

BERT HODGE HILL, A.M., Director of the School.

CHARLES BURTON GULICK, Ph.D.,
Professor of the Greek Language and Literature.

CYRUS ASHTON ROLLINS SANBORN, A.M., Secretary of the School.

Fellows

CLYDE PHARR, Ph.D., Fellow of the Institute.

CARL WILLIAM BLEGEN, A.B., Fellow of the School.

WILLIAM BELL DINSMOOR, S.B.,

Fellow in Architecture of the School, on the grant of the Carnegie

Institution of Washington.

AMERICAN SCHOOL AT ATHENS

1910

The American School of Classical Studies at Athens was founded by the Archaeological Institute of America in 1881, and is supported by the coöperation of leading American Universities and Colleges. It is in charge of a Managing Committee, and its property is vested in an incorporated Board of Trustees.

REGULATIONS OF THE SCHOOL

THE OBJECT OF THE SCHOOL

I. The object of the School shall be to furnish to graduates of American Universities and Colleges and to other qualified students an opportunity to study Classical Literature, Art, and Antiquities in Athens, under suitable guidance; to prosecute and to aid original research in these subjects; and to cooperate with the Archaeological Institute of America, so far as it may be able, in conducting the exploration and excavation of classic sites.

THE MANAGING COMMITTEE

II. The Managing Committee shall disburse the annual income of the school, and shall have power to make such regulations for its government as it may deem proper. Each of the Universities and Colleges uniting in support of the School shall have representation on the Committee. The President of the Archaeological Institute, the Director of the School, the Chairmen of the Managing Committees of the American School of Classical Studies in Rome and of the American School for Oriental Study and Research in Palestine, and the Editor-in-Chief of the Journal of the Institute, shall be ex officion members of the Committee. The Professors of the School shall also be members of the Committee during their year of office and the year following. The Committee shall have power to add to its membership.

III. The Managing Committee shall meet annually, in New York, on the second Saturday in May. By special vote these meetings may be held elsewhere. Special meetings may be called at any

time by the Chairman. At any meeting, nine members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for business.

IV. The officers of the Managing Committee shall be a Chairman, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. There shall be also an Executive Committee

V. The Chairman of the Managing Committee shall be the official representative in America of the interests of the School. He shall present a Report annually to the Archaeological Institute concerning the affairs of the School.

VI. The Executive Committee shall consist of nine members. The Chairman, Secretary, and Treasurer of the Managing Committee, the President of the Archaeological Institute of America, and the Chairman of the Managing Committee of the American School of Classical Studies in Rome, shall be ex officio members of the Executive Committee; the other four members shall be chosen by the Managing Committee in the following manner: at the annual meeting in May, 1901, two members of the Managing Committee shall be chosen to serve for two years and two members to serve for one year, and at each subsequent annual meeting two members shall be chosen to serve for two years. The Chairman and Secretary of the Managing Committee shall be the Chairman and Secretary of the Executive Committee.

VII. The Managing Committee shall elect from its members as its representative an Associate Editor of the Journal of the Institute.

THE DIRECTOR AND THE PROFESSORS

VIII. The work of the School in Greece shall be under the superintendence of a Director. He shall be chosen and his salary and the term for which he is chosen shall be fixed by the Managing Committee. He shall have charge of the School building, and shall be resident in Athens from the 1st of October to the 1st of July, with liberty to absent himself for short periods for purposes of exploration or research. He shall superintend the work of each member of the School, advising him in what direction to turn his studies, and assisting him in their prosecution. He shall have control of all excavations undertaken by the School. He shall make semi-annual Reports to the Managing Committee, in November and in May, of the work accomplished by the School.

IX. Each year the Managing Committee shall appoint from the instructors of the Universities and Colleges uniting in support of the School one or more Professors, who shall reside in Athens during the

ensuing year and take part in the instruction of the School. The Committee may appoint other Professors and Instructors, as circumstances require. In case of the illness or absence of the Director, the senior Professor shall act as Director for the time being.

X. The Director and Professors shall conduct regular courses of instruction, and shall at times hold public meetings at which such students of the School as they may select, or other persons invited by them to take part, shall read papers on subjects of their study and research, or make reports on the work undertaken by them or by the School.

THE SCHOOL YEAR

XI. The School year shall extend from the first day of October to the first day of July. During this period a regular member of the School shall ordinarily reside in Athens; but permission may be granted him by the Director to travel and study for a limited time elsewhere in Greece, in Greek lands, or in Italy. Further, under exceptional circumstances, with the consent of the Director and of the Chairman of the Managing Committee, a regular member of the School may be permitted to prosecute special studies in countries other than those just named, provided such studies are supplementary to work already begun in Athens.

THE MEMBERS OF THE SCHOOL

XII. Regular members of the School shall be those who are enrolled for a full year's work as candidates for a certificate. Associate members may be admitted to the School for a shorter term, but not for a period of less than three months; they shall be subject to the same regulations and shall be admitted to the same privileges as regular members, but they shall not be required to prepare a paper nor shall they receive a certificate.

XIII. Bachelors of Arts of coöperating Universities and Colleges, and all Bachelors of Arts who have studied at any of these institutions as candidates for a higher degree, shall be admitted to membership in the School on presenting to the Chairman of the Managing Committee a satisfactory certificate from the University or College at which they have last studied, stating that they are competent to pursue courses of study at the School. Such members shall be subject to no charge for tuition. All other persons who desire to become

members of the School shall make application to the Chairman of the Managing Committee, and if admitted they shall be required to pay a fee of \$25 per annum for tuition and library privileges. Students occupying rooms in the School building shall pay a fee of \$20 per annum for the use of furniture.

XIV. Every regular member of the School shall pursue some definite subject of study or research in Classical Literature, Art, or Antiquities, and shall present a paper embodying the results of some important part of his year's work, unless for special reasons he is excused from these obligations by the Director. His paper, if approved by the Director, shall be sent to the Committee on Publication, in accordance with the provisions of Regulation XXI. If approved by the Editorial Board of the Journal also, it shall be issued as a Paper of the School.

XV. Excavation shall not be part of the regular work of a member of the School, but any member may, at the discretion of the Director, be permitted to take part in it. All work of excavation, of investigation, or of any other kind done by any member during his connection with the School, shall be regarded as done for the School and by the School, and shall be under the supervision and control of the Director.

XVI. No communication, even of an informal nature, shall be made by any member of the School to the public press, which has not previously been submitted to the Director and authorized by him.

XVII. Every regular member of the School who has completed one or more full years of study, the results of which have been approved by the Director, shall receive a certificate stating the work accomplished by him. This certificate shall be signed by the President of the Archaeological Institute, and the Chairman and the Secretary of the Managing Committee.

XVIII. Americans resident or travelling in Greece may, at the discretion of the Director, be allowed to enjoy the privileges of the School, although not enrolled as students

FELLOWSHIPS

XIX. The Fellowships administered by the Managing Committee shall be awarded mainly by competitive examination. The subjects on which candidates will be examined, and the places and times at which examinations will be held, shall be announced not less than six months in advance.

XX. Every holder of one of these Fellowships shall be enrolled as a regular member of the School, and shall be required to fulfil the maximum requirement of residence, to present a paper embodying the results of some important part of his year's work, and to be a candidate for a certificate.

PUBLICATIONS

XXI. All manuscripts, drawings, or photographs intended for publication in the Papers of the School shall be sent, after approval by the Director, to the Committee on Publication.

XXII. Every article sent for publication shall be written on comparatively light paper of uniform size, with a margin of at least two inches on the left of each page. The writing shall be on only one side of the leaf, and shall be clear and distinct, particularly in the quotations and references. Especial care shall be taken in writing Greek, that the printer may not confound similar letters, and the accents shall be placed strictly above the proper vowels, as in printing. All quotations and references shall be carefully verified by the author, after the article is completed, by comparison with the original sources. Failure to comply with the provisions of this regulation shall be sufficient ground for the rejection of the article.

XXIII. At least two careful squeezes of every inscription discovered by the School shall be taken as soon as possible; of these one shall be sent at once to the Editor-in-Chief of the Journal of the Institute, the other shall be deposited in the Library of the School.

FELLOWSHIPS

1912-1913

IN THE SCHOOL AT ATHENS

Fellowships will be awarded as follows for the year 1912-1913: at the American School of Classical Studies at Athens, two in Greek Archaeology, with a stipend of \$600 each. There is also a Fellowship in Architecture which is maintained by the Carnegie Institution of Washington. This has already been awarded.

The Fellowships in Archaeology are awarded chiefly on the basis of competitive written examinations, but other evidence of the ability and attainments of candidates will be considered. They are awarded for one year; a Fellow in Classical Archaeology, however, may, at the discretion of the Committee on Fellowships, be reappointed for a second term without an examination, on the recommendation of the Director and Professors of the School, but not more than one such reappointment will be made in any year, and no Fellowship in Classical Archaeology may be held for more than two years.

The holders of these Fellowships will be enrolled as regular members of the School, and will be required to pursue their studies, under the supervision of its Director, during the full school year. But Fellows may, with the consent of the Director, spend a limited portion of the year in residence at the School in Rome, under the supervision of its Director. In addition to his general studies, each holder of a Fellowship is required to prosecute some definite subject of special research, and, after the completion of the year, to present a paper embodying the results of his investigation. Twice in the year, namely on February 1 and July 1, each Fellow will make a report to the Chairman of the Committee on Fellowships, with regard to the use which he has made of his time. A somewhat detailed description of the progress of his researches will be required. For

the prosecution of his special investigation he may obtain leave, under certain conditions, to supplement his studies at Athens by researches elsewhere than in Greece. (See Regulations XI and XX.)

Each candidate must announce in writing his intention to offer himself for examination. This announcement must be made to the Chairman of the Committee on Fellowships (Professor H. N. Fowler, Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio), and must be in the Chairman's hands not later than February 1, 1910. The receipt of the application will be acknowledged and the candidate will receive a blank, to be filled out and returned to the Chairman by February 15, in which he will give information in regard to his studies and attainments. A copy of this blank may also be obtained at any time by application to the proper Chairman.

The examinations will be held in Athens, and at any of the universities or colleges represented on the Managing Committee of the School, on March 14–16, 1912.

The subject for special study in architecture for candidates for Fellowships in Classical Archaeology is the temple of Zeus at Olympia.

The award of the Fellowships will be made, and notice sent to all candidates, as soon as practicable after the examinations are held. This notice will be mailed probably not later than May 1. The income of these Fellowships is paid in four equal instalments on September 15, December 15, March 15, and June 1.

The Fellowship examinations of 1913 will be held in March of that year under conditions similar to those which are stated above. Special inquiries on the subject of the Fellowships of the School at Athens should be addressed to Professor Harold N. Fowler, Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio.

INFORMATION FOR STUDENTS

Students who desire to apply for admission to the School at Athens should address, if in America, the Chairman of the Managing Committee; if in Europe, the Director of the School. Information with reference to the School may be obtained from either of these officers. The application should be accompanied by a statement of the preparation of the applicant.

The student should gain as great command as possible of the German, French, and Modern Greek languages before going abroad;

and the summer preceding a year at the School may profitably be spent in France or Germany, working in the Museums (Paris, Berlin, Dresden, Munich) and obtaining practice in French or German conversation.

The usual port of arrival in Greece for those coming from Western Europe is Patras, eight hours by rail from Athens. To Patras the shortest sea route is from Brindisi (thirty hours, including the stop at Corfu), with four steamers weekly. Those who come from countries north of Italy will avoid the long railway journey to Brindisi by taking the weekly express steamer from Trieste. The Italian steamer from Venice is less direct.

From Marseilles there are fortnightly steamers to the Piraeus, via Naples; and from Genoa, via Naples and Catania; also weekly steamers from Catania to the Piraeus, touching at Canea in Crete.

If the student wishes to go directly from America to Italy, he will take one of the lines which have a regular express service from New York or Boston to Genoa or Naples (minimum price about \$80 for first-cabin passage). Brindisi is twelve hours by rail from Naples.

For the voyage from America to Greece, direct, one may take a steamer of the Austro-Americana Line at New York for Patras (prices the same as to Naples).

The cost of living in Athens is very much what one chooses to make it; but the city is no longer among the less expensive European capitals. At the large hotels in Athens, board and lodging can be obtained for \$14 per week; at small hotels and in private families, for \$8 per week, and upward. A limited number of men students may have rooms, without board, in the School building at Athens.

The School library at Athens, which now contains about five thousand volumes, provides all the books that are most essential for study in Greece, and the student in travelling should encumber himself with few books.

\$23,474.23

THIRTIETH FINANCIAL STATEMENT

September 1, 1910, to August 31, 1911

The Managing Committee of the American School of Classical Studies at Athens

		In account with	GARDINER	MARTIN	LANE,	Treasurer
Cr.						Dr.
Cash in hands of Treasurer, September 1, 1910, belonging to the following accounts: Bulletin on Corinth \$300.00 For general expenses 8,254.25 \$ Subscriptions from supporting institutions, 1909–1910 Subscriptions from supporting institutions, 1910–1911 Subscriptions from supporting institutions, 1911–1912 Receipts from Heraeum publication	\$8,554.25 700.00 4,125.00 250.00 42.00 4,985.55	Salary of Director Salary of Temporary Travelling expenses Repairs to building, Appropriation Tiles, freight, and Library Fellowship, Archaec Carnegie Fellowship Carnegie Research I	of Director . lights, servan	ts, etc.	\$1,500.00 549.10	\$2,500.00 495.00 100.00 2,049.00 475.00 800.00 1,100.00
Mrs. J. Montgomery Sears 1,500.00 Mrs. Mary K. Sedgwick	1,662.00 155.43 600.00 2,400.00	Fellowship School Travelling expenses Printing Excavations at Corin Petty expenses Committee expenses Paid Treasurer of the of Classical Stuc Mochlos Book . Erechtheum Publica Treasurer's clerk Balance, cash in hand	of Annual Protein the Control of the	ofessor	an School	$\begin{array}{c} 750.00 \\ 800.00 \\ 1,662.00 \\ .55 \\ 121.31 \\ 3,000.00 \\ 725.00 \\ 300.00 \\ 100.00 \end{array}$

\$23,474.23

E. & O. E.

GARDINER MARTIN LANE, Treasurer.

CONTRIBUTORS TO THE SCHOOL AT ATHENS

1910-1911

For Current Expenses

For Adelbert College of Western Reserve University:

William G. Mather, Albert A. Pope, W. S. Tyler. Messrs. Charles W. Bingham, William E. Cushing, Samuel Mather,

For Brown University:

ness Fund for the Benefit of Brown University." This subscription is secured in perpetuity by "The Albert Hark-

Bryn Mawr College.

Columbia University.

Cornell University.

Dartmouth College:

A portion of the subscription depends on individual contributors.

For Harvard University:

Messrs. W. W. Goodwin, Babson S. Ladd, James Loeb, D. W. Ross, Lawrence E. Sexton, Henry B. Washburn. Mrs. J. B. Ames, Mrs. W. G. Farlow, Mrs. Blanche E. Williams,

Johns Hopkins University.

Leland Stanford Junior University.

Mt. Holyoke College.

Princeton University.

Syracuse University. Smith College.

For the University of California:

Raphael Weill, † Benjamin Ide Wheeler, and Alumni, Friends, and Undergraduates of the University of California. Phelan, Louis Sloss & Co., Levi Strauss & Co., † Jacob Voorsanger, William B. Bourn, † Charles R. Brown, † Charles M. Gayley, Mrs. Phœbe A. Hearst, I. W. Hellman, †James McDonald, James D. Messrs. William Babcock, † Thomas R. Bacon, Charles R. Bishop,

Total contributions to the Permanent Fund, \$3892.24 † These contributed lectures.

University of Chicago.

For the University of Michigan:

Messrs. D. M. Ferry, Charles L. Freer, F. L. Geddes, Frank J. Hecker, David Heineman, W. H. Murphy, Thos. W. Palmer, William Savidge, Bryant Walker.

University of Pennsylvania:

Messrs. John Cadwalader, C. C. Harrison, Samuel Dickson, S. F. Houston, J. G. Rosengarten.

For the University of Vermont:

Mrs. G. G. Benedict, Messrs. Thomas S. Buckham, Charles A. Catlin, Henry W. Clark, E. N. Foss, Lewis Francis, James B. Hammond, Bert H. Hill, Messrs. Elias Lyman, T. R. Powell, Robert Roberts, H. K. Tenney, Frank R. Wells, John B. Wheeler, James R. Wheeler.

For Vassar College:

Mr. Samuel D. Coykendall.

Wellesley College.

Wesleyan University.

Williams College.

Yale University.

The Treasurer of the Trustees of the School at Athens gratefully acknowledges also the following gifts:

For the Fellowship of Architecture:

Carnegie Institution of Washington			•		\$1200
For a Special Fellowship:					
Carnegie Institution of Washington					\$1200
Through the Director:					
Professor E. Capps				100	francs
Mrs. Radeke	•		•	500	francs
For the Excavations at Corinth:					
Mrs. J. Montgomery Sears .					\$1500
Mrs. William T. Sedgwick	٠	•			162

For the addition to the School building:

In addition to the initial subscription by James Loeb, Esq., of \$6000, the sum of \$4750 has been contributed by the following persons: Miss Ellen F. Mason,

W. K. Richardson, F. P. Fish, W. A. Gardner, Mrs. E. D. Brandegee, W. Bayard Cutting, Francis C. Lowell, Peter C. Brooks, Louis Curtis, Ginn & Co., Francis Bullard, Mrs. Henry C. Weston, David P. Kimball, James M. Paton, Miss Theodora Sedgwick, Mrs. J. Montgomery Sears, Miss Elizabeth J. Houghton, Miss H. Otis Craft, Francis Blake, Ernest B. Dane, Miss Mary Curtis, Mrs. John E. Hudson, Mrs. Alice Lowell Ropes, Ezra R. Thayer, Charles Peabody, George Putnam, Edward H. Hall, William Endicott, Thornton K. Lothrop, George Wigglesworth, W. W. Goodwin, Miss Helen Sears, Kenneth Webster, Mrs. Mabel S. Agassiz, Miss Agnes Irwin, Samuel Mather, A. Barton Hepburn, Alexander S. Cochran.

The bequest of \$500 by Mrs. Ruth Emerson Fletcher to the Archaeological Institute for the School, mention of which is made in the accompanying report, is to be added to the building fund.

